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PUBLISHERS' NOTE TO THE 
SECOND EDITION 

The fIrst edItIOn of .. GandhlJI's Correspondence wIth 
the Government, 1942-44 'f was publIshed 10 AprIl last and 
was sold out m a few weeks. The publisher::. regret 
that, OWIng to paper control and other handIcaps, It was not 
pos~'I.ble for them to brIng out a larger number of COpiCS 
In the fIrSt Instance, or to publIsh another edItIOn earher 
1D spIte of the growmg popular demand. The only consolatIon 
that they can offer to the reader IS that the delay has 
enabled them to IncorporatE.' some fresh matter In the present 
edItIon, and to eradIcate some errors and defects that had 
crept Into the £Irst Of particular Importance IS the document 
of draft mstructIOns for the W orkmg CommIttee to whIch 
GandhI]1 referred m a press stat£>mrnt ~ome tIme back and 
whIch IS now bemg released for the fIrst tIme as Item IV (p.356) 
In the Addenda (pp 349-360) m thIS volume Some further 
correspondence that took place with Lord Samuel and the 
Government of Bombay SInce the prmtmg of the fIrSt editIOn 
WIll be found In parts IV D (pp. 105~110) and IX 
MIscellaneous (pp 336-338) respectively of thiS pubbcaoon. 

15-9-'45 
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FOREWORD 

I have read the introduction as also the originals. The 
mtroduction may be good enough for the hasty read~r. but 
the publication is not designed for the hasty reader. It is 
designed for the serious worker who can affect the politics 
of his country and even the world affairs. To such my advice 
is that he must read the originals. The introduction may be 
used as such and an aid to memory. I want the readers I 
have in view to take me at my word. I have written as I 
felt at the moment as a seeker of long standing of Truth and 
Non-violence. I have written without reservation and without 
embellishment. 

After my accidentally premature discharge from detention 
'and convalescence I studied from reliable witnesses the 
happenings of the two years after the mcarceration of principal 
Congressmen and myself. I have heard hothing to modify 
the opinion expressed in my writings under review. 

I know firsthand what has happened, since my discharge, 
m the various spheres of life. And I have found bitter con­
fIrmation of what I have said in the following pages. Indeed. 
the whole of India is a vast prison. The Viceroy is the 
Irresponsible superintendent of the prison with numerous jailers 
and warders under him. The four hundred millions of India are 
not the only prisoners. There are others similarly situated in 
the other parts of the earth under other superintendents. 

A Jailer is as much a prisoner as his prisoner. There is 
no doubt a difference. From my point of view he is worse. 
If there is a Dayof]udgment, i. e. if there is aJudge whom 
we do not see but who nevertheless is much more truly than 
we exist for a brief moment, the judgment will go hard against 
the jailer and in favour of the prisoners. 
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India is the only place on earth which knowingly has 
chosen Truth and Non-violence as the only means for hel 
deliverance. But deliverance to be obtained through these 
means must be deliverance for the whole world including the 
jailers otherwise described by me as tyrants and Imperialists. 
I need not mention Fascists or Nazisor Japanese. They seem 
to be as good as gone. 

The war will end this year or the next. It will bring 
victory to the Allies. The pity of it is that it will be only 
so-called if it is attained with Tndiaand the like lying prostrate 
at the feet of the Allies. That victory will be assuredly a 
prelude to a deadlier war, if anything could be more deadly, 

I know that I do not need to plead for non-violent India. 
If India has the coin with Truth on one face and Non-violence 
on the other, the coin has Its own inestimable value which 
will speak for itself. Truth and Non-violence must express 
humility at every step. They do not dlsdam real aid from 
any quarter, much less from those m whose name and for 
whom exploitation IS practIsed. If the B ritlsh and the Allies 
aid, so much the better. Deliverance will then come sooner. 
If they do not. deliverance is still certain. Only the agony 
of the victIm will be greater. the tIme longer. But what ~re 
ag,ony and time if they are spent in favour of liberty, 
especially when it is to be brought about through Truth and, 
Non-violence! 

Sevagram. 
7-3-1945 

M. K. GANDHI 



INTRODUCTION 

During his convalescence at Juhu after his discharge in 
May last year Gandhiji caused a limited number of copies 
of his correspondence with Government. while he was in 
detention. to be prepared for private circulation among friends. 
It was divided into two parts, his reply to the Government's 
pamphlet .. Congress Responsibility for the Disturbances, 
1942-43" constituted a separate volume (part II), the rest 
of the correspondence being included in part I. About 200 
cyclostyled copies were in this way distributed with a prefa­
tory covering letter which too is reproduced in this volume. 
Great precaution was taken and no copy was sent to the 
press. Enterprising news agencies however got scent of it 
and after a tussle with the central authority released parts 
of the correspondence to the press. A plucky Bombay daily 
published the whole of it in two instalments. Soon after the 
Government themselves brought out the political correspon­
dence included in the two cyclostyled volumes as a govern­
ment publication with a highly tendentious and misleading 
, summary' which was handed to the press, especially the 
foreign press, along with it. Only a limited edition was pub-

. lished. Popular demand for a full edition has since continued 
to grow. The present volume is in answer to that demand. 

I 
The correspondence is divided into nine sections. The 

first section consisting of letters 1 to 16 is of a miscellaneous 
character and is illustrative of the tone and temper of the 
authorities in those early days of August, 1942. immediately 
after the mass arrests of Congressruen. The first letter 
in the series is addressed to the Government of Bombay 
.()~ the day after Gandhiji's arrival in the Aga Khan Palace. 
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It refers to the incident of the manhandling of a fellow 
Satyagrahi prisoner on the way as the party were being 
brought from Bombay to Poona, and contains a request for 
the Sardar and his daughter being put with him, and for 
being supplied with newspapers. Other matters dealt With 
are restrictions on the ·nature and scope of permissible corres­
pondence and the inordinate delay of over three weeks in 
the delivery of a condolence message which Gandhiji had 

, stnt to the wife and son of the Late Shri Mahadev Desai 
",.. latter's death. Government's replies which are very 
~dlaracteristic will be found in letters 2, 5 and 9. 

Of special interest is the admission in letter No. 12 that 
the D1strict Magistrate of Ahmedabad who had been charged 
with conducting action agaInst the Navajivan Pressj had 
misinterpreted orders that had been issued to him so that 
.. all the old files of the HanJan since 1933" had" actually 
been destroyed". 

In the month of November, 1942, when Prof. Bhansali 
was fasting in connection with Chimur happenings, Gandhiji 
sought Bombay Government's permission to establish direct 
telephonic contact with him to dissuade him from the fast 
if he found it to be morally unjustified. The permission was 
refused. (Letters Nos. 13-16) 

II 
This section IS the correspondence with Lord Linlithgow 

and the Government of India about the August disturbances 
and:in connection with Gandhiji's fast of ;February, 1943. 

The first letter to Lord Linlithgow, dated 14th August, 
1942. is a reply to the Government's communique on tlae 
August Resolution of the Congress and the subsequent action 
taken by the Government thereon. The special interest of this 
letter written by Gandhiji five days after his arrest lies in the 
fact that it contained a most categorical denial of the charge 
that tihe Congress had contemplated violence at any stage. 



. 
The non-violent policy of the Congress was reiterated by him 
with even greater emphasis in a letter which he wrote to 
the Government of India a few weeks later (letter No. 19). 
The letter to the Viceroy referred to the readiness of the 
Congress to identify India with the Allied cause and its 
offer loyally to accept any national government that might 
be formed by the Muslim League. It ended by pleading for 
a reconsideration of the Government of India's whole policy. 
A fact to be noted in this connection is that, although the 
Government continued to accuse the Congress of encourag­
ing violence and to use it to justify their repression policy. 
they neither published these letters till their hands were 
forced by Gandhiji's fast nor took any action on them. 

On New Year's Eve, after an interval of over four 
months, Gandhiji re-opened correspondence with Lord 
Linlithgow by addressing him a personal letter. Gandhiji in 

. his letters pointed out that: 
1. It was not the passing of the • Quit India' resolu­

tion but the hasty action of the Government that had pre­
cipitated the crisis. He had openly declared that he intended 
asking an interview with the Viceroy to explore avenues 
for a settlement. The Government should have waited at 
least till he had written to the Viceroy, especially as civil 

. disobedience was not to be started unless the negotiations 
broke down. 

2. The aim of the • Quit India' resolution was to 
bring about conditions under which India could effectively 
participate in the war effort of the Allies. 

3. The Congress had made no preparations . danger­
ous' or other beforehand. The only person, namely 
Gandhiji, who had been authorized to start civil disobe­
dience in the name of the Congress in a certain contin­
gency. was arrested before he could do so or even issue 
lUlY instructions. 
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4. Whilst he continued to be as confirmed a believer 
in non-violence as he 'ever was, he could not condemn 
alleged popular violence on the basis of heavily censored 
newspaper reports and one-sided government statements 
which had often proved to be incorrect in the past. 

The Government's stand as set forth in Lord Linlithgow's 
letters was that : 

(a) Gandhiji had .. expected" his policy to lead to 
violence, that he was .. prepared to condone it", that there 
was .. ample evidence" to show that the violence that 
ensued was planned beforehand by the Congress leaders. 
and therefore Congress and especially Gandhiji could not 
disown responsibility for the consequences that followed 
from the adoption of 'Quit India' policy. 

(b) The only basis for negotiations with Gandhiji 
could be: 

i. r.epudiatlOn by him of. and disassociation from, 
the resolution of 8th of August and the policy 
which that resolution represented; 

ii. appropriate assurances as regards the future. 
Against this Gandhiji contended that it was for the 

Government to prove their charges against him and the 
Congress by producing proofs .. which should correspond to 
the canons of English jurisprudence". 

Although he had a right to demand a Judicial trlal be- ' 
fore an impartial tribunal he was prepared to waive that 
demand, but should at least have a personal interview with 
the Viceroy, or some one who knew the Government's 
mind and could carry conviction might be sent to him. so 
that, if convinced of his error, he could make ample amends.' 
If, on the other hand, it was desired that he should act 
on behalf of the Congress he should be put among the 
members of the Congress Working Committee for consul­
tation and necessary action. 
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1 he Government refused to consider either request and 
Gandhiji decided to undertake a twentyone days' fast. 

On being intimated of Gandhiji's decision the Govern· 
ment offered to release him for .. the purpose and duration .. 
of the fast. 

Gandhiji replied saying that the fast was not contem­
plated to be taken as a free man. He had no desire to be 
released under false pretences. He was quite content to fast 
as a prisoner or detenu. This letter was not published by 
the Government at the time and Gandhiji's position was 
distorted in their press communique to mean that Gandhiji 
wanted to fast in order to secure his release anyhow! 

Gandhiji's last letter to Lord Linlithgow was by way of 
a final appeal addressed to the conscience of the retiring 
Viceroy to bring home to him the wrong of .. having 
countenanced untruth with regard to one whom he once 
regarded as his friend ". Lord Linlithgow's reply showed that 
the appeal had fallen absolutely flat so far as he was 
concerne~. 

III 

The ten items (39-48) included in this section describe 
how Gandhiji was treated during the fast. Facilities like 
receiving visits from friends and relatives during the fast and 
having nurses and medical advisers of his own choice were 
permitted by the Government. But grace and goodwill were 
singularly lacking in Government's subsequent behaviour. 
Gandhiji had to write again and again seeking clarification 
of the position with regard to the operation of these facilitieg. 
Some of the orders seemed to be deliberately calculated to 
prevent full use being made of the facilities provided. For 
instance, when, because of his growing weakness during the 
fast. he asked for being allowed to carryon conversation with 
the visitors by proxy. the permission was refused (item No. 43). 
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IV 

The first letter in this series which Gandhiji caused to 
be written soon after the commencement of his fast contains 
an answer to some of the charges brought against him in 
the Government's press communique. Extracts from Gandhiji's 
own utterances before his arrest are quoted and chapter 
and verse given to show that such expressions as .. open 
rebellion ", .. short and swift ", "fight to the finish .. , occur­
ring in Gandhiji's writings and utterances of which much 
bad been made in the Government's communique, were used 
111 an entirely non-violent context. It is further shown that 
the injunction "Do or Die" which had been cited by the 
Government as a proof that the struggle was not meant to 
be non-violent was actually intended by him to serve as 
a badge to distinguish every soldier of non-violence from 
other elements. They were to win freedom for India or die 
in the attempt to achieve it non-violently. 

The attempts to calumniate Gandhiji and the Congress 
continued. On the 15th of February the Home Member made 
a speech in the Assembly repeating the accusations mentioned 
already and some more. It bristled with inaccuracies and 
misrepresentations. Gandhiji read the speech after the fast 
and replied in a long letter written on the 15th of May, 1943 
(item No. 51). In it he pointed (lut the various errors and 
misrepresentations in which the Home Member had indulged. 

The Ho~e Member, instead of either substantiating or 
retracting his charges, replied that as there was a "fundamental 
difference" in their outlook there was not any use in dis­
cussing the various points raised in Gandhiji's letter! 

Gandhiji's contention that tht> "fundamental difference" 
between them should be no bar to an " admission and correction 
of discovered errors tt re:nained unanswered. 

In response to an invitation by Mr. linnah in a public 
speech to v.rrite to him, Gandhiji addressed him a letter on 
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4th May, 1943, suggesting a visit from him and a personal 
discussion with a determination to find a solution of the 
communal problem, or if that was not possible, to write 
to him on the subject. Government refused to forward 
this letter but sent Gandhiji a copy of the press communique 
which they proposed to issue and which contained a mis­
leading gist of the letter. 

Gandhiji wrote to the Government protesting against 
this procedure. He suggested some alterations in the press 
communique (letter No. 58) and requested that the corres­
pondence between him and the Government on the subject 
might be released to the press. The Government declined 
to concede either request. 

After the fast, Gandhiji read in the Hindu a report of 
Lord Samuel's speech in the House of Lords containing a 
number of grossly unjust strictures against himself and the 
Congress. Gandhiji replied in a long letter giving a catego­
rical refutation of all the charges. 

In :pursuance of their policy to allow no chance 
to imprisoned Congressmen to answer or refute false 
propaganda that was being made behind their back, the 
Government refused to forward this letter to Lord!Samuel. 
Gandhiji protested that Government's decision in the present 
case amounted to a .. ban on the ordinary right belonging 
even to a convict of correcting damaging misrepresenta­
tions tt. But his protest went unheeded. 

In the months of June and July aU kinds of rumouts 
appeared in the press to the effect that Gandhiji had 
written to the Government withdrawing the August Reso­
lution. Gandhiji asked the Government to contradict these 
reports as he had neither the desire nor the authority to 
withdraw the resolution. ,This request like . the previous 
ones was turned down. 
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V 

After the commencement of Gandhiji's fast the Govern.. 
ment of India published an indictment of the Congress and 
Gandhiji entitled .. Congress Responsibility for the Distur~ 
bances, 1942-43 ". Gandhiji sent a long reply to it on the 
15th of July. Extracts from his writings had been tom from 
their context and a sinister meaning put upon them by 
presenting them in a false setting. Gandhiji in his reply 
restored them to their proper context and elucidated the 
true meaning. Considerable space had to be devoted to an 
analysis of the technique of deliberate misquotation, distor­
tion, innuendo, suppressio veri and suggestio falsi employed 
by the writer of the pamphlet. 

A flagrant case of misquotation is held up in para 34 
where the .. famous words" attributed to Gandhiji ... There 
is no room left in the proposal for withdrawal or negoti­
ation. There is no question of one more chance. After all 
it is an open rebellion", are shown to be .. P;lrtly a distor­
tion and partly an mterpolation" not to be found in the 
authentic published report of the W ardha interview. Not 
satisfied with giving a wrong quotation when the correct 
text was before him the writer had tacked on to it two 
more apocryphal sentences from an unauthentic Associated 
Pres" report and quoted them without asterisks between 
sentences that appear apart in the Associated Press report I 

Confronted by this damaging disclosure, the Government 
instead of making amende honorable sought to brazen it out 
by disbelieving Gandhiji's version and even impugni~g his 
good faith. Unfortunately for them the Statesman of 
16th July, 1942, (mofussil edition) has the portion of the 
Wardha interview in question in the following form: 

Later, answering questions on the resolution at a press interview 
at Sevagram. Mr. Gandhi said: 

.. There is no room left in the proposal for withdrawal for nego­
tiations;'either they recognize India's independence. or they don't." 



This version which is also by the A. P. 1. completely bears 
out Gandhiji's statement and refutes the Government's. It 
should further be noted that the sentences," There is no 
question of one more chance. After all it is an,. open 
rebellion .. are not to be found in the Statesman's report. 

Paras 12 to 16 refute the charge that Gandhiji had 
asked for the physical withdrawal of the British from India. 
What he had asked for was the withdrawal of British power, 
not of individual Englishmen. He had even agreed to the 
use of India as a base for military operations against Japan. 

Charges against the Congress and Gandhiji of being 
defeatists and pro-Japanese are dealt with in paras 18 to 
40. Far from being .. convinced that Axis would win the 
war ". he had proclaimed the contrary belief from the 
housetop. (paras 19, 21 and 25). Paras 30 and 31 contain 
a refutation of the statement that his opposition to the 
Government's scorched earth policy was actuated by a 
sordid or pro-Japanese solicitude for industrial prosperity. 
Finally, it is shown that the statement that he was" even 
prepared to concede to their (Japanese) demands" is wholly 
at variance with known facts and that. indeed. the boot is 
on the other leg! (paras 22 and 32 ). 

Paras 45 to 63 contain a detailed reply to the accusation 
that either he or the Congress had planned or precipitated 
a conflict or sanctioned or shown a readiness to condone 
violence. The education given by the Congress to the people 
had been wholly non-violent. In the past whenever outbreaks 
had occurred the most energetic measures had been taken 
by the whole of the Congress organization to deal with 
them. On several occasions he had himself resorted to fasting 
(para 52). He had even said that if Congressmen indulged 
in an orgy of violence they might not find him alive in 
their midst (para 66). The exhortation to every Congressman 
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to consider himself free to act for himself- under 
certain circumstances and the use of military terms in 
connection with the contemplated struggle was wholly 
innocent and apt when coupled with the condition of non­
violence. (paras 48 and 49). 

To support his calumny the author of the pamphlet 
had dismissed every reference to non-violence in the forecasts 
of the form the movement would take and in the post arrests 
programme and instructions as "valueless" or as mere "lip 
serviC"e". This was on a par with the omission of • nots • 
from the Commandments and quoting them in support of 

• Since much has been made of this portion of the August Resolution 
in the Government publication it may be mentioned here that there is 
nothing extraordinary about it. An identical decision was taken by the 
Worlpng Committee in Feb. 1931 when Gandhi-Irwin talks threatened to 
break down. Subsequent events however rendered the publication of that 
resolution unnecessary. Here is the description of it by Pandit Nehru in 
his Autobiography: 

.. So far. the practice had been for each acting President to nomi­
nate his successor 10 case of arrest. and also to fill by nomination 
the vacancies in the Working Committee. The substitut<! Working 
Committees hardly functioned and had little authority to take the 
initiative in any matter. They could only go to prison. There was 
always a risk. however. that this continuous process of substitution 
might place the Congress in a false position. There were obvious 
dangerll to it. The Working Committee in Delhi. therefore. decided 
that in future there should be no nominations of acting Presidents 
or substitute members. So long as any members (or member) of 
the original Committee were out of gaol they would function as the 
full Committee. When all of them were in prison. then there would 
be no Committee functioning. but. we said rather grandiloquently. 
the powers of the Working Committee would then vest in eac:h 
man and woman in the country, and we called upon them to carry 
on the struggle uncompromisingly." 

[Jawaharlal Nehru-An Autobiography-John Lane The 
Bodley Head. June 1942 edition. Chapter XXXIV - The Delhi 
Pact - page 256.) 
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stealing. murder etc. (para 46). In robbing Gandhiji "of the 
one thing he lived by and lived for. the author of the 
pamphlet had robbed him of all he possessed. 

The use of the expression .. Do or Die" to which the 
Government reverted later in their correspondence (letter 
No. 79) had already been dealt with in letters No. 49 and 
51. Similarly the anonymous 'last message' attributed to 
Gandhiji ( Appenditt X of the Indictment) was already covered 
by his general denial that he had issued no instructions 
whatever (para 46). This so-called last message, as a matter 
of fact. is only an assortment of pointers from Gandhiji's All­
India Congress Committee speeches -on the 7th and 8th of 
August, 1942. as recapitulated by the present writer to groups 
of Congress workers who came to Birla House on the morning 
of 9th of August. 1942, and recorded by some of them t 

Gandhiji left unanswered Chapters IV and V of the 
. Indictment which dealt with the nature of the disturbances 
etc. as he could not properly do so on the strength of one­
sided statements and unauthenticated documents. The neces­
sity of thi$ caution will be apparent from the case of Shri 
Krishnan Nair whose case was cited in the Indictment in 
proof of Congress responsibility for the disturbances follow­
tng upon the arrests of prominent Congressmen. He was 
prosecuted for complicity in violence. The following interpel. 
lations in the Central Legislative Assembly in this connection 
will be found illuminating. 

Mr. Qaiyum In a question about Krlshnaft Natr. a Delhi Con­
gress worker. asked whether in view of his acquIttal by the Lahore 
High Court. what amends Government proposed to make to him for 
the statement made in the pamphlet Ccmgress Resporuibility that he 
was sentenced to ~o years' Ilgorous imprisonment. 

The Home Member said that Government dId not propose to 
take any action in the matter; it was open to Mr. Nair to take any 
action to which he was entitled under the law. 

Sardar Sant Singh asked jf th~ Home Member wu DreDared to 
withdraw the statement made in the pamphlet. 



The Home Member: If there is a demand for another edition. 
I shall make a correction (Laughter). 

Mr. Abdul Qaiyum: Will the Hon. Member issue a correction 
slip as in the case of the Income-Tax Manual? (More laughter). 

(Hindustan Tttnes Nov. 21, 1944) 

Shri KrIshnan Nair is still in detention under the Defence 
of India Rules thus showing that the quashing of the con­
viction does not help him so far as his discharge is concerned. 

The question of responsibility for the disturbances is 
dealt with in paras 67 to 73. The argument briefly is as 
fullows: 

Government had themselves admitted in the pamphlet 
.. Congress Responsibility for the Disturbances, 1942-43" that 
on the 9th there were sporadic .. disturbances" in Bombay. 
On the 9th and 10th there were sporadic .. distlubances .. in 
some of the other big cities as well. These were confined 
to peaceful demonstrations and proceSSIOns It was towards 
the middle of August that the situation really became serious. 
The sequence given in the Government pamphlet thus proves 
Gandhiji's contention that It was the Government's initial 
action in the form of the leaders' arrests en masse and 
liubsequent heavy repression of peaceful demonstrations that 
goaded the people to the point of madness. The loss of self­
control did not imply Congress complicity. It implied that 
there were limits to human endurance. As for the Congress 
it had set no special stage for a mass movement in pursuance 
of Gandhiji's proposal for British withdrawal. The sole charge 
for starting it was vested in Gandhiji and he had taken no 
action nor issued any instructions as he contemplated 
negotiations with the Government. Congress activity up to 
the night of 8th August, 1942, was thus confined to resolutions 
only. The dawn of 9th saw the Congress imprisoned. What 
followed was therefore the direct result of the Government 
action. The attempt .. to paralyze the administration" on 
non-acceptance of the Congress demand only proved the ~ 
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genuineness of the demand. .. It sets the seal on its genuine­
ness by Congressmen preparing to die in the attempt to 
paralyze an administration that thwarts their will to fight 
the combine against democracy." (para 43). 

The Government had frustrated the aspiration of India 
at every step. Out of this frustration was born the cry of 
. Quit India' which gave body to the freedom movement. 
The Government instead of appreciating their impatience 
to play their part in the world crisis distrusted those who 
were associated with it. By putting them in prison and 
obstructing constructive activity they themselves became the 
greatest obstruction in war effort. 

He asked therefore that the case against him and his 
colleagues should 'be withdrawn. He also requested the 
Government to publish his reply. 

To this the Government replied on the 14th of October 
. that the document had been published for the information 
of the public and not to convince Gandhiji! His request for 
publication of his reply was met with a refusal and a veiled 
threat held out that they reserved to themselves the freedom 
.. to use at any time and in any manner which they might 
think fit" the various .. admissions" contained in the 
communication which Gandhiji had" voluntarily addressed" 
to them! 

His request to be allowed to see the members of the 
Working Committee was turned down on the plea that there 
was no indication that the views of the members of the 
Working Committee differed from his own. 

Gandhiji in his rejoinder asked that the charges brought 
against him and the counter-charges against the Government 
might be referred to an impartial tribunal. If the Government 
considered that it was his influence which corrupted people, 
they could keep him in prison and discharge the rest of the 
Congres;;men. 
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This letter along with Gandhiji's letters to Sir Reginald 
Maxwell and Lord Samuel (. Nos. 51. 53 and 62) the reader 
must read in full. 

VI 

Items 83-106 U;cluded in tlus section cover Shrimati 
Kasturba's protracted illness which started soon after her 
arrest in 1942 and ended in her death in detention on 22nd 
of February, 1944. Facilities for seeing her near relatives and 
getting nursing and medical aid were obtained after protracted 
correspondence, and in almost every case the relief. when it 
came, came too late. 

On her death the request:for her body being handed over 
to her sons and_relatives was turned down and the cremation 
had to take place on the premises of the Aga Khan Palace. 

In March 1944 Mr. Butler made a statment in the House 
of Commons which gave a highly incorrect and misleading 
version of the events relating to Shrimati Kasturba's illness 
and death. Gandhiji protested against It, but Government 
refused to make amends. An appeal to Lord Wavell equally 
failed to bring any redress and the final letter from the 
Government of India (item No. 1(6) only 'added insult 
to injury. 

VII 

In the months of November and December a series of 
facsimiles of cartoons and statements of a grossly libellous 
character were reproduced from the Brisish press in some 
Indian newspapers. They were particularly directed against 
Gandhiji who was shown as a pro-Japanese Quisling 
while Shrimati Miraben was depicted as his tool and 
emissary. Shrimati Miraben protested against it in a 
letter to Lord Linlithgow dated the Christmas Eve. 1942. 
enclosing copies of relevant correspondence which she had 
with Gandhiji while she was in Orissa in the early summ.er \ 
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of 1942. These showed that at a time when the Govern­
ment were issuing instructions for the evacuation of civil 
authority from the eastern coastal area in Orissa, Gandhiji 
was trying to organize a total non-violent non-coopera­
tion with, and a last ditch resistance to, the prospective 
Japanese invaders. She asked for publication of her letter 
of protest and the correspondence with Gandhiji. This 
letter was not even acknowledged. 

In February, 1944, a reference was made to this corres­
pondence in the Legislative Assembly. The Home Member 
defended the Government's position by saying that the 
publication of the correspondence would not help the Con­
gress case because the Government had not charged it with 
being pro-Japanese! The fact that the correspondence 
provided documentary proof against the charge of . defeati­
sm' and readiness to .. concede to the demands" of the 
Japanese that had been levelled against the Congress was 
conveniently forgotten. 

Gandhiji contended that the publication was necessary 
in view of the libellous propaganda against her referred to 
in Shrimati Miraben's letter to Lord Linlithgow. It was 
irrelevant whether the publication would help the Congress 
case or not. But the Government refused to budge. 

VIII 

On the arrival ot the present VIceroy Gandhiji made a 
fresh attempt to end the political deadlock and secure justice 
for himself and the Congress which he had failed to obtain 
at the hands of the previous Viceroy. He invited him .. to 
make a descent" upon Ahmadnagar and the Aga Khan 
Palace .. in order to probe the hearts" of his captives whom 
he would find .. to be the greatest helpers in the fight 
against Naziam. Fascism and Japanism and the like ". At. for 
the suggestion about the withdrawal of August Resolution 
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he pleaded that a resolution jointly undertaken could be 
honourably. conscientiously and properly withdrawn only 
after joint discussion and deliberation. 

Lord Wavell's reply gave an unmistakable indication 
that the political issue was intended to be kept in cold 
storage and that the previous Viceroy's policy was to continue. 

IX 
The final section IS of a miscellaneous character. The 

matters dealt with include the proposed amendment of the 
salt clause 10 the Gandhi-Irwin Agreement. a request for' 
being transferred to a regular prison where the expenses 
entailed in his detention would be less. conditions of inter­
views during his illness in detention. and the acquisition of 
the site of the samadht of Shrimati Kasturba and Shri 
Mahadev Desai. 

PYARELAL 

1-3-1945 



[ GANDHI1I'S PREFATORY COVERING LETTER] 

.. Sunder Bun .. 
Gandhigram. 

Juhu. 10th June. 1944 
DEAR FRIEND. 

I send you herewith in two volumes copies of c~rres­
pondence between the Government of India or the Bombay 
Government and myself during my Incarceration in the palace 
of H. H. the Aga Khan in Yeravada. 

The second volume is a copy of my reply to the Govern­
ment of India pamphlet entitled .. Congress Responsibility 
for the Disturbances. 1942-43". The first contains copies of 
correspondence arising out of the above mentioned reply and 
on miscellaneous matters of public importance. 

I had the copies cyclostyled with the help of kind friends . 
. For fear of censorship difficulties. I did not try to have the 
copies printed at any printmg press. But lest the Government 
of India may think that there is anything in the correspondence 
objectionable from militay standpoint I am circulating for 
private use only the copies among friends who, I think. should 
know the nature of the correspondence that took place between 
the two Governments and me. You are free to show your 
copy to any friends you like. subject to the precaution that 
applies to you. 

You will confer on me a favour J.f you will take the 
trouble of letting me have your reactlOn upon the corres­
pondence especially upon the points arising from my reply 
to Government of India pamphlet. I have endeavoured to 
answer every item of importance in the Government indictment. 
I should like to know the points, if any. which require 
elucidation. 

Yours sincerely. 
M. K. GANDHI 



I 
CORRESPONDENCE 

WITH THE GOVERNMENT OF BOMBAY 
A 

ROUGH-HANDLING OF SHRI G. G. MEHTA AND SOME 
OTHER MATTERS 

1 
10th August, 1942 

DEAR SIR ROGER LUMLEY, 

After the train that carried me and other fellow prison­
ers reached Chinchwad on Sunday, some of us were order­
ed to alight. Shrimati SaroJini Devi, Shrimati Mirabai, Shri 
Mahadev Desai and I were directed to get into a car. There 
were two lorries lined up alongside the car. I have no doubt 
that the reservation of the car for us was done out of 
-delicate considerations. I must own too that the officers 
in charge performed theIr task wIth tact and courtesy. 

Nevertheless I felt deeply humiliated when the other 
fellow prisoners were ordered to occupy the two lorries. I 
realize that all could not be carried in motor cars. I have 
been before now carried in prison vans. And this time too 
we should have been carried with our comrades. In relating 
this incident my object is to inform the Government that 
in the altered conditions and the altered state of my mind, I 
can no longer accept special privileges whIch hitherto I have 
accepted though reluctantly. I propose this time to accept 
no privileges and comforts which comrades may not receive, 
except for the special food so long as the Government 
allow it for my bodily need. 

There is another matter to which I must draw your 
attention. J have told my people that this time our method 
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is not courting imprisonment, that we must prepare for 
much higher sacrifice and so those who choose may peace­
fully resist arrest. So a young man who was in the party 
offered such resistance. He was therefore hauled to the 
prison van. This was ugly enough. But it was a painful sIght 
when an impatient English sergeant rough-handled him and 
shoved him into the lorry as if he was a log of wood. In 
my opinion the sergeant deserves correctIOn. The struggle 
has become bitter enough without such scenes. 

This temporary jail is commodious enough to take in all 
who were arrested wIth me. Among them are Sardar Patel 
and his daughter. She is his nurse and cook. I have great 
anxiety about the Sardar who never got over the intestinal 
collapse which he had during his last incarceration. Ever 
since his release I have been personally regulating his diet 
etc. I request that both he and hIS daughter he placed with 
me. And so should the other prisoners though not on the 
same imperative grounds as are applicable in the case of 
the Sardar and his daughter. I submit that it IS not right 
to separate co-workers arrested for the same cause unless 
they are dangerous criminals. 

I have been told by the Superintendent that I am not 
to be supplied with newspapers. ' Now I was gIven by one 
of my fellow prisoners on the train a copy of the Sunday 
edition of the Evenmg 'New~. It contams the Governmen 
of India's resolution in justification of their policy m dealIng 
with this crisis. It contains some grossly incorrect statements 
which I ought to be allowed to correct. ThIS and similar 
things I cannot do. unless I know what is going on 
outside the jail. 

May I expect an early deciiion on 
herein? 
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the points raised 
I am, 

Yours sincerelY., 
M. K. GANDHI 



From 
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No. S. D. V 23 
Home Department. (PolitIcal) 

Bombay Castle. 14th August. 1942 

The Secretary to the Government of Bombay, 
Home Department 

To 
M. K. Gandhi. Esquire, 

The Aga Khan's Palace, 
Yeravda 

SIR. 
With reference to your letter dated 10th instant address­

ed to His Excellency the Governor. I am directed to say 
that no change In the condItions of your detention IS at 
present contemplated. and that therefore your request for 
the detention in HIS Highness the Aga Khan's Palace ot 
Mr. Vallabhbhai Patel and hIS daughter cannot be acceded 
to and that it is not at present the intentIon to supply you 
with newspapers. 

Your obedient servant. 
J. M. Sladen 

Secretary to the Government of Bombay, 
Home Department 

B 

~EGARDING CORRESPONDENCE 

3 
Rules about the wntIng and receiVing of letters by security prisoners. 
Commumcated by the Supenntendent on 26-8-'42 (9-30 p. m.). 

Security prisoners permitted to send and receive letters 
from members of their families only. 

The contents of letters to be limited strictly to personal 
and domestic matters. 
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The letters should contain nothing that is likely to 
disclose where they are being detained and that when writing 
to their families they should ask the letters sent to them 
should be addressed "C/o the Secretary to the Government 
of Bombay (H. D.)". 

It has been decided to permit Mr. M. K. Gandhi to 
select such newspapers as he would like to see, mcluding 
past issues since his arrest. up to the reasonable maximum. 
A list of newspapers should be obtamed from him and 
forwarded to Government immediately. 

4 
To 

The Secretary to the Bombay Government (H. D.) 

DEAR SIR, 

With reference to the Government orden, about the 
WrIting of letters by the security pnsoners, it seems that 
the Government do not know that for over thirtyfive years. 
I hav~ ceased to live family life and have been hvmg, what 
has been called, Ashram hfl" 10 association with persons 
who have more or less shared my views. Of these Mahadev 
Desai, whom I have Just lost. was an associate beyond com~ 
pare. His wife and only son have lived with me for years 
sharing the Ashram life. If I cannot write to the widow 
and her son or the other members of the deceased's family 
living in the Ashram, I can have no interest in writmg to 
anyone else. Nor can I be confined to wnting about personal 
and domestic matters. If I am permitted to write at all, I 
must give instructlOns about many matters that I had 
entrusted to the deceased. These have no connection with 
politics which are the least part of my activities. I am 
directing the affairs of the A. I. S. A. and kindred associ­
ations. Sevagram Ashram itself has many activities of a 
social. educational and humanitarian character. I should be 
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able to receive letters about these actlvltles and write 
about them. There is the Andrews Memorial Fund. There 
is a large sum lying at my disposal. I should be able to 

give instructions about its disposal. To this end I must be in 
correspondence with the people at Shantiniketan. Pyarelal 
Nayyar who was co-secretary with Mahadev Desai, and 
whose company as also that of my wife was offered to me 
at the time of my arrest, has not yet been sent. I have 
asked the I. G. P. about his whereabouts. I can get no in­
formation about him, nor about Sardar Vallabhbhai Patel 
who was under my care for the control of his intestinal 
trouble. If I may not correspond with them about their 
healtb and welfare, again the permission granted can have 
no meaning for me. 

I hope that even if the Government cannot extend the 
facilities for correspondence in terms of this letter, they will 
appreciate my diffIculty. 

Detention Camp, 
27-8-'42 

From 
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I am, Yours etc., 
M. K. G,\NDHI 

N. S. D. V 1011 
Home Department (Political) 

Bombay Castle, 22nd September, '42 

The Secretary to the Government of Bombay, 
Home Department 

To 
M. K. Gandhi, Esquire 

SIR, 

In reply to your letter dated the 27th August, .1942, I 
am directed to request you to furnish me with a list of the 
inmates of the Sevagram Ashram with whom you wish to 
corresportd on personal and domestic matters only. In regard 
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to your further request that you should be allowed to write 
and receive letters on rertain matters otber than those of 
a purely personal and domestic nature, I am to inform you 
of the decision of Government that it would not be in 
accordance with the purposes of your confinement to allow 
such an extension of the scope of your correspondence. 

Your obedient servant, 
J. M. SLADEN 

Secretary to the Government of Bombay, 
Home Department 

6 
The Secretary, Government of Bombay, 

( H. D. Political), Bombay 

SIR, 
With reference to your letter of 22nd September I beg 

to say that I cannot exercise the privilege extended by the 
Government since I may not reter in my letters even to non­
politiCj-l matters mentioned in my letter of 27th August, 1942. 

Detention Camp, I am, Yours etc., 
25-9-'42 M. K. GANDHI 

C 

UN WIRE ABOUT MAHADEVBHA1'S DEATH 

7 
CHIMANLAL, 

Ashram, Sevagram, Wardha 
Mahadev died suddenly. Gave no indication. Slept well 

last night. Had breakfast. Walked with me. Sushila, jail 
doctors did all they could, but God had willed otherwise. 
Sushila and I bathed body. Body lying peacefully covered 
with flowers incense burning. Sushila and I teciting Gita. 
Mahadl?v has died yogi's and patriot's death. Tell Durga, 
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Babla and Sushila no sorrow allowed. Only joy over such 
noble death. Cremation taking place front of me. Shall keel> 
ashes. Advise Durga remain Ashram but she may go to her 
people if she must. Hope Babla will be brave and prepare 
himself fill Mahadev's place worthily. Love. 

15-8-'42 BAPU 
8 

The Secretary, 
Home Department, Bombay Government, Bombay 

SIR, 

Khan Bahadur Kateley kindly handed me yesterday the 
letters written by late Shri Mahadev Desai's wife and son. 
At the time of handing me the letters, Khan Bahadur told 
me that he has to explain to me the delay caused in sending 
my 'letter '. He could however gIve no explanation. I missed 
even a formal expression of regret for the inordinate delay. 
There appears to have been in the Bombay Secretariat a 
disregard of the feelings of a bereaved wife" and a bereaved 
son. 

From these letters I gather that what was on the face 
of it a telegram, and was handed to the I. G. P. with the 
request that it should go as an express telegraphic message, 
was posted as a letter. I should like to be informed why 
the telegraphic message was posted as a letter. May I remind 
the Government that I am without any reply to my letter 
of 27-8-'42? The widow and her son are instances in point. 
They cannot but be comforted to receIve letters from my 
wife and me. But under the prohibItory orders we may 
not write to them. 

Detention Camp, 
19th September,'42 
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I am, Yours etc., 
M. K. GANDHI 

(Security prisoner) 



From 
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No. S. D. V. 1084 
Home Department (PolItical), 

Bombay Castle, 24th September, ]942 

The Secretary to the Government of Bombay, 
Home Department 

To 
M. K. GandhI, Esquire 

SIR, 

With Iderence to your letter dated the 19th instant, I 
am directed to state that the delay In the delIvery of your 
message to the widow of the late Mr. Mahadev Desai was 
due to a misunderstanding which IS regretted. As has already 
appeared in the press, the Government of IndIa has t>xpressed 
regret to the widow for ~he delay. 

As regards the further pomt mentioned In your letter 
concerning your correspondence, I am to invite reference to 
my letter No. S. D, V. 1011 dated the 22nd September, 1942. 

Your obedIent servant, 
J. M. SLADEN 

Secretary to the Government 01 Bombay, 
Home Department 
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D 
CONFISCATION OF NAVAJIVAN PRESS PROPERTY AND 

BURNING OF 'HARIJAN' 

10 
The Secretary, Bombay Government, 

(Home Department) Bombay 

SIR, 
I beg to enclose herewith a cutting from the Bombay 

Chronicle dated 24th instant. I shall be obliged if I am told 
whether the fear expressed by the writer of the note In 
question is justified and if it is, to what extent. 

Detention Camp, I am, Yours etc., 
26-10-'42 M K. GANDHI 

11 

Enclosure tu letter No. 10 
"Bombay Chronicle ,. Octoher 24. 1942 - Page 4 

GOVT. AND THE" NAVAJIVAN" PRESS 

To The Editor of the .. Chronicle .. 

SIR. 

In order to stop the pubhcation of the Han)an and allied weeklies 
ot Mahatma Gandhi. the Government raided and took pOSheSS\oI\ of the 
.. Nava)ivan" Press with all its publications etc .. but chose to return aiter 

.some time the publications etc. Piecemeal and Imperfect reports of the 
raid. seizure and return have appeared in the press from time to time. It 
\5 necessary, therefore. to put before the pubhc a shon account of the 
whole series of events. 

AftE'r the arrest of Gandhiji. and now the late S)t. M~hadev Desai. 
011 the 9th August. 1942. the Hari]an was bemg published under the editor • 

..ship of SJt. Kishorelal Ma,hruwala. 
After the publication of one issue the polIce raided on the 21st 

August. 1942. the" Navajivan" Press and seized composed forms and 
galleys and also some printed copies of the RanJan number wbich was to 
be published on the 23rd August. along with the whole press and para. 
phernalia. On thl' sam", nigbt and the next day they removed essential 
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parts of the pnntIng machIne and carried away copies of all numbers, old 
and new, of the Hanjan and lts ailled weeklies as well as all the bound 
volumes of their files beginning from 1933 up to 1942. Even the library, .. 
some manuscTlpts, files of common periodicals, the typewnter, the cyclo­
style and kerosene tins were taken away. All the bUildings of the publication 
department and the book-bindmg department as well as the godown of 
printing papers were sealed. 

In view of Gandhijj's public statement in the HaTIJan of 19-7-'42 
to the effect that he has instructed the Manager to close down all the· 
weeklies as soon as orders for thetr closure were served by the Govern­
ment, the Manager would have earned out the mstructions fully; but the 
Government chose to act as they did. In the onginal order of seizure there 
was nothmg to warrant seizure of all Out publications, hbrary etc., but the 
Government sealed all departments and put the whole preCincts under 
police and military protectIOn. 

ThiS went on for about a month. Suddenly on the 25th of September, 
1942, the City Magistrate mqUlred as to the Manager and called him 
m hiS presence. He wa' informed verbally that everythmg except the press, 
the prmting papers and Han}an fdes was to be returned. The next day, 
therefore, the seals were broken and the publIcations were handed over. 
At the same time all blank prlntmg papers. types and other press furniture 
were stacked like grass on motor lorries and removed. They wanted to retur;; 
the press machine, but they refused to return the essential parts of the 
machinery that they had removed. The Manager was told to accept what 
was hemg given. He was turther mformed that If he dId not accept It as 
It was, the sentries would be removed and then he would be responsible 
for the machine. The Manager m charge saId, . The machine cannot work 
Without Its Important parts. Why should 1 then accept It in Its dismantled 
condition ?' 

The CIty Magistrate then removeJ the sentrIes and put upon the' 
door of the bmlding a notIce to the effect that the buildmg was no more 
In the posseSSlOn of the Government. The City Magistrate thereafter sent 
by registered post the keys of the bUlldmg to the Manager m charge of 
the P~ess, but he refused to accept them. 

Thus the ., NavaJlvan .. Karyalaya has got back its publtcations, Its 

office lrbrary etc., but the quite unworkable and' dismantled press' is still­
lymg in the bUlldmg and the "Navajivan" Karyalaya IS not m possj!'Ssion 
of it. Printing papers worth about Rs. 50,000, the types, some important 
mam!scripts and kerosene tins, a typewnter, a cyclostyle, an electric fan 
and all the files of the Hanlan from start to fimsh have also not been 
returned. Not only that, a local dally publIshed m Its Issue dated 28-9-'42 
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that the flIes have all been destroyed Till now the Government has aUo .. ed 
the report to go uncontradIcted 

In the words of the Bombay Chrontcle we refuse to behcvc that any 
~ovemment could be gUilty of such vandahsm It WIll be ~ood for the 
.luthontles concerned to Issue a ,taterncnt on the subJet-t 

NavaJlvdn" Karyalavd. Your_ ct, • 
KARIMBHAI VORA Ahmedabad 20th October. 1942 

. From 
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No. S. D. III 2613 
, Home Department (Pohtical) 

Bombay Castle. 5th November, 1942 

The Secretary to the Government of Ecml.'ay. 
Home Department 

To 
M. K. GandhI. EsqUlrt> 

1 am directed to mform you In reply to your letter to 
me dated October 26th that the Government mstructed the 
DI~tnct Magistrate, Ahmedabad. to destroy all objectIOnable 
literature seized from the NavaJlvan Mudranalaya such as old 
copies ot the Hanlan newspaper. books, leaflets and other 

.mlscellaneous papers and to return other arucleb that were 
not objectIOnable to the owners. 

I have ascertamed from the Dlstnct MagIstrate that he 
mterpreted the orders as covenng all the old files of the 
RanJan since 1933 and these old fIles have actually been 

.destroyed. 

Your obedIent servant, 
J. M. SLADEN 

Secretary to the Government of Bombay, 
Home Depanment 

11 



EXPRESS 

E 

PROF. BHANSALl'S FAST 

13 

Secretary, Home Department, 
Bombay Government 
Professor Bhansah, one tIme fellow, Elphmstone College: 

left college 1920 and Jomed Ashram Sabarmati He IS repofted 
by dally press to be fastmg wIthout water near Sevagram 
Ashram Wardha over alleged Chlmur excesses Would hke 
estabhsh dIrect telegraphIc contact wIth hIm through SuperIn­
tendent for ascertammg cause fastlIlg hIs condItIOn I would. 
lIke to dIssuade him If I fInd 1m fast mOl ally unJustifIed. 
I make thIS request for humamty's sake. 

24-11-'42 GANDHI 

14 

The Inspector (leneral of Pnsom. 
Bombay Presidency 

SIR, 
About 8-45 a m. yesterday I sent you the text of an 

express telegram to the Secretary, Bombay Government, 
Home Department. about Professor Bhansah who IS reported 
to be fastIng. As the Professor seems to have been fast10g 
since 11th Instant dccordmg to the report 10 the Hmdu of 
Madras and since last Wednesday accordmg to the Bombay 
Chronzcle. I am naturally fdled wIth anxiety. Time 10 such 
cases IS the greatest factor. I shall therefore be obltged If 

you could convey by telephone or wire my request to the 
Bombay Government for an urgent reply In regard to 
my WIre. 

25-11-'42 I am etc., 
M K. GANDHI 

12 



From 

15 
No. S. D. VI 2891 

Home Department (Political), 
Bombay Castle. 30th November. 1942 

The Additional Secretary to the Government of Bombay, 
Home Department 

To 

M. K. GANDHI, Esquire 

SIR, 

I am directed to refer to your telegraphic message dated 
the 24th instant, regarding the fast of Professor Bhansali. 

In reply I am to state that Government is unable to 
sanctIOn your request to be ilJlowed to communicate 
WIth him. 

If, however, you desire to advise him, tor humanitarian 
'reasons, to abandon his fast, this Government will make 
arrangements to communicate your advice to him. 

SIR, 

Your obedient servant, 
Sd/-

·AddItional Secretary to the 
Government of Bombay, Horne Department 

16 

Detention Camp, 
4th December, '42 

I beg to acknowledge your letter of 30th ultimo received 
by me yesterday afternoon (3rd instant). I note with 
deep regret that my telegraphic message with regard to a 
dear co-worker, whose life seems to be in jeopardy, should 

13 



have been answered by a letter which reached me ten days 
after the despatch of my message! 

I am sorry for the Government rejection of my request. 
As I believe in the legitimacy and even necessity of fasting 
under given circumstances, 1 am unable to advise abandon­
ment of Prof. Bhansah's fast, ul'less I know that he has no 
justifying reason for it. If the newspaper report is to he 
believed, there seems to be legitimate ground for his fast 
and I must be content to lose my fnend, If I must. 

Additional Secretary to the 
Government of Bombay, ( H . D . ) 

I am, etc., 
M. K. GANDHI 



II 

CORRESPONDENCE WITH LORD LINLlTHGOW 
and 

THE GOVERNMENT OF INDIA 

A 

EARLIER CORRESPONDENCE ABOUT 

AUGUST DISTURBANCES 

17 

DEAR LORD LINLITHGOW, 

The Aga Khan's Palace, 
Yeravda, 14-8-'42 

The Government of India were wrong 10 precipitating 
·the crIsis. The Government resolution justifying the step 
IS full ot distortIOns and UllsrepresentatlOns. That you had 
the approval of your Indian .. colleagues" can have no 
significance, except this that in India you can always com­
mand such services. That cooperation is an additional 
justIficatIOn for the demand of withdrawal Irrespective of 
what people and parties may say. 

The Government of India should have waited at least 
till the time that I inaugurated mass action. I had publicly 
stated that I fully contemplated sending you a letter before 
taking concrete action. It was to be an appeal to you for 
an impartial examination of the Congress case. As you 
know the Congress has readily filled in every omission 
that has been discovered in the conception of its demand. 
So would I have dealt with every deficiency if you had 
given me the opportunity. The preCipitate action of the 
Government leads one to think that they were afraid that 
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the extreme caution and gradualness with which the Con­
gress was moving towards direct action, might make world 
opinion veer round to the Congress as it had already begun· 
doing, and expose the hollowness of grounds for the Govern­
ment rejection of the Congress demand. They should surely 
have waited for an authentic report of my speeclies on 
Friday and on Saturday night after the passing of the 
resolution by the A. 1. C. C. You would have found in' 
them that I would not hastily begin action. You should 
have taken advantage of the interval foreshadowed in them 
and explored every possibility of satisfying the Congress 
demand. 

The resolution says, "The Government of India bave 
waited patiently in the hope that wiser counsels might 
prevail. They have been disappointed in that hope." I 
suppose 'wiser counsels' here mean abandonment of its 
demand by the Congress. Why should the abandonment of 
a demand legitimate at all times be hoped for by a govern­
ment pledged to guarantee independence to India ? Is it a 
challenge that could only be met by immediate repression 
instead of patient reasoning with the demanding party? I 
venture to suggest that it is a long draft upon the credulity 
of mankind to say that the acceptance of the demand 
" would plunge India Into confusion". Anyway the summary 
rejection of the demand has plunged the nation and the· 
Government into confusion. The Congress was making 
every effort to identify India with the allied cause. 

The Government resolution says, "The Governor­
General-in-Council has been aware, too, for some time past, 
of dangerous preparations by the Congress party for unlawful 
and in some cases violent activities, directed among other 
things to the interruption of communications and public 
utility services. the organization of strikes. tampering with 
the loyalty of Government servants and interference with 
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defence measures including recruitment." This is a gross 
distortion of the reality. Violence was never contemplated 
at any stage. A definition of what could be included in 
non-violent action has been interpreted in a sinister and 
subtle manner as if the Congress was preparing for violent 
action. Everything was openly discussed among Congress 
circles, for nothing was to be done secretly. And why is it 
tampering with your loyalty if I ask you to give up a job 
that is harming the British people? Instead of publishing 
behind the backs of principal Congressmen the misleading 
paragraph, the Government of India, immediately they came 
to know of "the preparations", should have brought to 
book the partie.;; concerned with the preparations. That 
would have been an appropriate course. By their unsupported 
allegations in the resolution. they have laId themselves open 
to the charge of unfair dealing. 

The whole Congress movement was intended to evoke 
in the people the measure of sacrifice sufficient to compel 
attentIOn. It was mtended to demonstrate what measure of 
popular support it had. Was it wise at this time of the 
day to seek to suppress a popular movement avowedly 
non~vlolent ? 

The Government resolution further says, "The Congress 
is not India '5 mouthpiece. Yet in the interE:$ts of securing 
their own dominance and in pursuit of their totalitarian 
policy, its leaders have consistently impeded the efforts 
made to bring India to full nationhood." It is a gross libel 
thus to accuse the oldest national organization of India. 
This language lies ill in the mouth ot a Government which 
has, as can be proved from public records, consistently 
thwarted every national effort for attaining freedom, and 
sought to suppress the Congres~ by hook or by crook. 

The Government of India have lIot condescended to 
consider the Congress offer that if simultaneously with the 
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declaration of independence of India, they could not trust 
the Congress to form a stable provisional government, they 
should ask the Muslim League to do so and that any national 
government formed by the League would be loyally accepted 
by the Congress. Such an offer is hardly consistent with the 
charge of totalitarianism against the Congress. 

Let me examine the Government offer. "It is that as 
soon as hostilities cease, India shall deVIse for herself, with' 
full freedom of decision and on a basis embracing all and 
not only a single party, the form of government which she 
regards as most suited to her conditions." Has this offer any 
realIty about it ? All parties have not agreed now. Will it 
be any more possible after the war, if the parties hav£ to 
act before independence is in their hands? Parties grow up 
like mushrooms, for without proving their representative 
character, the Government will welcome them as they have 
done in the past. if the parties oppose the Congress and 
its activities. though they may do lip homage to independ-. 
ence. Frustration is inherent in the Government offer. Hence 
the logical cry of withdrawal first. Only after the end of the 
British power and fundamental change in the political status 
of India from bondage to freedom, will the formation of a 
truly representative government, whether provisional or 
permanent, be possible. The living burial of the authors 
of the demand has not resolved the deadlock. It has 
aggravated it. 

Then the resolution proceeds, "The suggestion put 
forward by the Congress party that the millions of India 
uncertain as to the future are ready, despite the sad lessons 
of so many martyr countries, to throw themselves into the 
arms of the invaders. is one that the Government of India 
cannot accept as a true representation of the feeling of the 
people of this great country." I do not know about the 
millions. But I can give my own evidence in support of the 
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Congress statement. It is open to th~ Government not to 
believe the Congress evidence. No imperial power likes to 

, be told that it is in peril. It is because the Congress is 
anxious for Great Britain to avoid the fate that has over­
taken other imperial powers that it asks her to shed 
imperialism voluntarily by declaring India independent. The 
Congress has not approached the movement with any but 
the friendliest motive. The Congress seeks to kill imperialism 
as much for the sake of the British people and humanity as 
for India. Notwithstandmg assertions to the contrary, I 
maint3in that the Congress has no interest of its own apart 
from that of the whole of India and the world. 

The following passage from the peroration in the resolu­
tion is interesting ... But on them (the Government) there 
lies the task of defending India. of maintaining India's 
capacity to wage war, of safeguarding India's interests, of 
holding the balance between the different sections of her 
'people without fear or favour." All I can say IS that It IS 

• a mockery of truth after the experience in Malaya Singapore 
and Burma. It is sad to find the Government of India 
claiming to hold the "balance" between the parties for 
whose creation and existence It is itself demonstrably 
responsible. 

One thing more. The declared cause IS common between 
-the Government of India and us. To put it in the most 
concrete terms, it is the protection of the freedom of China 
and Russia. The Government of India think that freedom 
of India is not necessary for winning the cause. I think 
exactly the opposite. I have taken Jawaharlal Nehru as my 

. measuring rod. His personal contacts make him feel much 
more the misery of the impending ruin or China and Russia 
than I can, and may I say than even you can. In that misery 
he tried to forget his old quarrel with imperialism. He dreads 
much more than I do the success of Nazism and Fascism. 
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I argued with him for days together. He fought against my 
position with a paSSIOn whIch I have no words to descrIbe. 
But the logic of facts overwhelmed him. He yielded when he 
saw clearly that without the freedom of India that of the 
othel two was m great jeopardy. Surely you are wrong in 
having imprisoned such a powerful friend and ally. 

If notwithstanding the common cause, the Government'~ 
answer to the Congress demand I~ hasty repression. the) 
wIll not wonder if I draw the mference that It was not se 
much the Allied cause that weIghed wIth the British Govern­
ment, as the unexpressed determmation to cling to the 
possession of India as an mdispensable part of imperial 
polley. This determmatIOn led to the reJectIOn of the Congresl 
demand and precipitated repreSSIOn. 

The present mutual slaughter on a ~cale never beforE 
known to history is suffocatmg enough. But the slaughtel 
of truth accompanying the butchery and enforced by th~ 
falsity of which the resolution IS reeking adds strength tc 
the Congress position. 

It causes me deep pam to have to send you this letter 
But however muc:.h I dIslIke your actIOn, I remalll the samE 
fri~nd you have known me. I would still plead £(>1 a recon· 
sideration of the Government of IndIa's whole polley. Dc 
not disregard thiS pleadmg of one who claims to be smcer£. 
friend of the Bntl;:h people. 

Heaven guide you 1 

I am, 
Yours smcerely, 
M. K. GANDHI 
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DEAR MR. GANDHI. 

The Viceroy's House. 
New Delhi, 

22nd August. 1942 

Thank you very much for your letter dated the 14th 
August, which reached me only a day or two ago. 

I have read, I need not say, what you have been good 
enough to say in your letter with very close attention. and 
I have given full weight to your views. But I fear in the 
result that it would not be possible for me either to accept 
the criticisms which you advance of the resolution of tht:' 
Governor-General-m-Council. or your request that the whole 
policy of the Government n£ India should be reconsidered. 

Yours sincerely. 
M. K. GANDHI. Esq. LINLITHGOW 

19 

Secretary. Government of India (H. D.). 
New Delhi 

SIR. 
In spite of the chorus of approval sung by the Indian 

Councillors and others, of the present government policy in 
dealing with the Congress. I venture to assert that had the 
Government but awaited at least my contemplated letter to 

H. E. the Viceroy and the result thereafter. no calamity 
would have overtaken the country. The reported deplorable 
destruction would have most certainly been avoided. 

In spite of all that has he,'1l said to the contrary, I claim 
that the Congress policy still remains unequivocally non­
violent. The wholesale arre1>ts of the Congress leaders seemed 
to have made the people wild with rage to the point of 
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losing self-control. I feel tbat the Government. not the 
Congress. are responsible for the destruction that has taken 
place. The only right course for the Government seems to . 
me to be to release the Congress leaders, to withdraw all 
repressive measures and explore ways and means of concili­
ation. Surely the Government have ample resources to deal 
with any overt act of violence. RepressIon can only breed 
discontent and bitterness. 

Since I am permitted to receive newspapers. I feel that 
lowe it to the Government to give my reaction to the sad 
happenin~ in the country. If the Government thmk that 
as a prisoner I have no right to address such communica­
tIOns. they have but to say so and I will not repeat the 
mIstake. 

23-9-'42 
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DEAR SIR, 

I am, 
Yours etc., 

M. K. GANDHI 

DetentIOn Camp, 
13th February, 1943 

Gandhiji in glancing through today's papers has noticed 
the following which has appeared as foot-note to annexure 
III of the published corresp(lnJence between H. E. the 
Viceroy and himself: .. A formal acknowledgement was sent 
to this letter." He directs me to say that he never received 
any such acknowledgement and that he would like his 
repudiation of the statement in question to be published. 

Sir Richard Tottenham, 
Home Department. Government of IndIa. 

New Delhi 

22 

Yours truly, 
PYARELAL 
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Communicated by the Supermtendent, Cdmp on 3-4- '43 

.. Will you please inform Mr, Gandhi with reference to 
the letter of 13th February. written on his behalf by Mr. 
Pyarelal. that his letter dated 23-9-'42, to the Secretary/to the 
Government of India. (H. D.), was acknowledged by a message 
through the officer IIC of the camp and Government con­
siders that a message conveyed in this manner IS as formal 
as a written communication." 

B 

CORRESPONDENCE WITH LORD LIN LITHGOW 
LEADING TO THE FAST AND AFTER 

PERSONAL 

, DEAR LORD LIN LITHGOW, 

22 
Detention Camp, 

New Year's Eve, 1942 

This is a very personal letter. Contrary to the Biblical 
injunctIOn I have allowed many suns to set on a quarrel I 
have harboured against you . But I must not allow the old 
year to expire WIthout disburdening myself of what is 
rankhng in my breast against you. I have thought we were 
friends and should stIll love to think so. However what has 
happened since the 9th of August last makes me wonder 
whether you still regard me as a friend, I have perhaps not 
come in such close touch with any occupant of your gadt 
as with you, 

Your arrest of me, the communique you Issued there­
after, your reply to Rajaji and the reasons given therefor, 
Mr. Amery's llttack on me, and much else I can catalogue 
go to show that at some stage or other you must have sus­
pected my bona fides. Mention of other Congressmen in the 
same connection is by the way. I seem to be the fons et 
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ortgo of all the eVIl Imputed to the Congress If I have not 
ceased to be your friend why dId you not, before takmg 
drastIc actlOllfl*nd for me, tell me of your SuspICIOns and 
make yourself sure of your facts? 

I am qUIte capable of seemg myself as others see me But 
in thIS case I have faded hopelessly I fmd that all the 
statements made about me m Government quarters In thIS 
connection con tam palpable departures from truth 

I have so much fallen fr')m grace that I could not esta­
blIsh contact With a dymg friend I mean Prof Bhansah who 
IS fastIng m regard to the ChimUl affaIr 1 1 1 

And I am expected to condemn the so-called VIOlence 
of some people reputed to be Congressmen, although I have 
no data for such condemnatlOn save the heavily censored 
reports of newspapers I must own that I thorou~hly dIstrust 
those reports I could Write much more, but I must not 
lengthen my tale of woe I am sure, what I have said IS 
enough to enable you to fIll In detaIl" 

You know I returned to IndIa from South Afnca at the 
end of 1914 WIth a miSSIon which came to me m 1906, 
namely, to spread truth and non-vlOlence among mankInd 10 

the place of VIOlence and falsehood lU all wdlks of hfe. 
The law of Satyagraha knows no defedt Pn<on IS one of the 
many ways of spreadIng the message But It has ItS hmlts. 
You have placed me In a palace where every reasonable 
creature comfort 18 ensured. I have freely partaken of the 
latter purely as a matter of duty, never as a pleasure, In the 
hope that some day tbose who have the power wIll realIze 
that they have wronged Innocent men I had gIVen myself 
SIX months The perIod IS drawmg to a close. SO IS my 
patIence The law of Satyagraba as I know It prescnbes a 
remedy In such moments of trIal. In a sentence It IS, 'Cruclfy 
the flesh by fastIng: That same law forbIds ItS use except 
as a last resort. I do not want to use It If I can aVOld It. 
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This is a way to avoid it. Convince me of my error ot 
errors, and I shall make ample amends. You can send for 

~ me or send someone who knows your mind and can carry 
conviction. There are many other ways if you have the will. 

May I expect an early reply? 
May the New Y ear brin~ peace to us all ! 
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PERSONAL 

DEAR MR. GANDHI, 

I am, 
Your sincere triend. 

M. K. GANDHI 

The Viceroy's House, 
New Delhi, 13th Jan., 1943 

Thank you for your personal letter of December 31st. 
i 'which I have Just received. I fully accept its personal 

character. and I welcome its frankness. And my reply will 
be. as you would wish it to be. as frank and as entirely 
personal as your letter itself. 

1 was glad to have your letter, tor, to be as open with 
you as our previolls relations justify, r have been profounJly 
lepressed during recent months first by the policy that was 
ldopted by the Congress in August, secondly. because while 
:hat policy gave rise. as it was obvious It must, throughout 
the country to violence and crime (I say nothing of the risks 
to India from' outside aggression) no word of condemnation 
for that violence and cnme should have come from you, or 
from the Working Committee. When you were first at Poona 
I knew that you were not receiving newspapers. and I 
accepted that as explaining your silence. When arrangements 
were made that you and the Working Committee ~hould 
have such newspapers as you def'ired I felt certain ~hat the 
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details those newspapers contained of what was happening 
would shock and distress you as much as it has us all, and 
that you would be anxiuus to make your condemnation of 
it categorical and widely known. But that was not the case; 
and it has been a real disappointment to me, all the more 
when I think of these murders. the burning alive of police 
officials. the wrecking of trams, the destruction of property, 
the misleading of these young students, which has done so 
much harm to India's good name, and to the Congress Party. 
You may take it from me that the newspaper accounts you 
mention arc well founded - I only wish they were not, for 
the story is a bad one. J well know the immense weight of 
your great authority in the Congress movement and with the 
Party and those who follow its lead. and I wish I could 
feel. again speaking very frankly, that a heavy responsibility 
dId not rest on you. (And unhappily, while the initial res­
ponsibility rests with the leaders, others have to bear the 
consequences, whether as law breakers, with the results that 
that involves, or as the victims') 

But if I am right in reading your letter to mean that 
10 the light of what has happened yo.u wish now to retrace 
your steps and dIssociate yourself from the policy of last 
summer, you have only to let me know and I will at once 
consider the matter further. And if I have faded to understand 
your object, you must not hesitate t.:> let me know without 
delay in what respect I have done so, and tell me what 
positive suggestion you wish to put to me. You know me 
well enough after these many years to believe that I shall 
be only too concerned to read with the same close attention 
as ever any message which I receive from you. to give it 
the fullest weight and approach it with the deepest anxiety 
to understand your feelmgs and your motives. 
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PERSONAL 

DEAR LORD LINLITHGOW. 
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DetentlOn Camp. 
19-1-'43 

I received your kind letter of 13th instant yesterday 
at 2-30 P. M. I had almost despaired of ever hearing trom 
you. Pleabe excuse my Impatience. 

Your letter gladdens me to tind that I have not lost 
caste with you. 

My letter of 31st December was a growl against you. 
Yours is a counter-growl. It means that you maintain that 
you were right in arresting me and you were sorry for the 
omissions of which. in your opinion. I was guilty. 

The inference you draw from my letter is. I am afraid. 
not correct. I ha ve reread my letter in the light of your 
mterpretation. but have failed to find your meamng in it. I 
wanted to fast and should still want to if nothing come!> out 
of our correspondence and I have to be a helpless witne~s 
to what is g010g on 10 the country including the prIvations 
of the millIons owing to the unIversal scarcity stalkmg the land. 

If I do not accept your interpretation of my letter. you 
want me to make a positive suggestion. This. I might be 
able to do. only if you put me am ong tbe members of th", 
Working Committee of the Congress. 

If I could be convinced of my error or worse, of which 
you are evidently. I should need to cC'nsult nobody. so far 
as my own action is concerned. to make a full and open 
confession and make ample amends. But I have not any 
conviction at error. I wonder if you saw my letter to the 
Secretary to the Government of India. (H. D.) of 23rd 
September, 1942. I adhere to what I have said in it and in 
my letter to you of 14th August, 1942. 

Of course I deplore the happenings that have taken 
place since 9th August last. But have I not laid the whole 
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blame for them at the door of the Government of India ? 

Moreover. I could not express any opinion on events which 
I cannot influence ur control and of whIch 1 have but a 
one-sided account. You are bound pnma facie to accept 
the accuracy of reports that may be placed before you by 
your departmental heads. But you will not expect me to do 
so. Such reports have. before now. often proved fallible. It 
was for that reason that in my letter of 31st December. I 
pleaded with you to conVInce me of the correctness of the 
informatlon on WhICh your convictIOn was based. You wIll 
perhaps appreciate my fundamental difticulty In waking the 
statement you have expected me to make. 

ThiS. however. I can say from the housetop. that 1 am 
as confirmed a believer in non-violence as I have ever been. 
You may not know that any VIOlence on the part of Congress 
workers. I have condemned openly and uneqUIvocally. I 
have even done public penance more than once. I must not 
weary you with examples. The point I wish to make is 
that on every such occasion I was a free man. 

ThiS tlme the retracmg. as I have submltted. hes with 
the Government. You will forgIve me for expressing an 
opmion challenglOg yours. I am certalO that nothing but 
good would have resulted It you had stayed your hand and 
granted me the lIltcrvlew whIch I had announced, on the 
night of the 8th Au~ust. I was to seek. But that was not to be. 

Here. may I remmd you that the Government of India 
have before now owned their mistakes, as for Instance. in 
the Punjab when the late General Dyer was condemned. in the 
U. P. when a corner of a mosque in Cawnpore was restored. 
and In Bengal when the Partition was annulled. All these 
things were done in spite of great and prevlOUS mob violence. 

To sum up; 
(1) If you want me to act smgly. convince me that I 

was wrong and I will make ample amends. 
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(2) If you want me to make any proposal on behalf of 
the Congress you should pu me among the Congress 
Workmg Committee members. 

I do plead with YOll to make up your mmd to end the 
tmpasse. 

If I am obscure or have not answered your letter fully, 
please point out the omissions and I shall make an attempt 
to give you satisfaction. 

I have no mental reservation 
I find that my letters to you arL sellt through the 

Government of Bombay. This procedure must Involve some 
loss of time. As time is of the essence in this matter, perhaps 
you wIll Issue InstructIOns that my letters to YOll may be 
~ent directly hy the Superintendent of 'thls Camp. 

I am, 
Your SIDcere friend. 

M. K. GANDHJ 
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PERSONAL 

The Viceroy's HOllse. 
New Delhi, 25th Jan .. 1943 

DEAR MR. GANDHI, 
Many thanks for your personal letter of the 19th Janu­

ary. which I have just received, and which I need not say 
I have read with close care and attention. But I am stilI. 
1 fear, rather in the dark. I made clear to yOll m my last 
letter that, however reluctantly. the course of events, and 
my famiharity with what has been taking place, has left me 
no choice but to regard the Congress 'movement, and you 
as lts authorized and fully empowered spokesman at the 
time of the declsion..J>f last August, as responsible f?r the 
sad campaign of VIOlence and crime, and revolutionary 
actIvity which has done so much harm, and so much 
mjury to India's credit. since last August. I note what you 
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say about non-violence. I am very glad 'to read your unequi­
vocal condemnation of violence, and I am well aware of 
the importance which you have given to that article of your 
creed in the past. But the events of these last months. and 
even the events that are happening today, show that it has 
not met with the full support of certain at any rate of your 
followers, and the mere fact that they may have fallen short 
of nn ideal which you have advocated is no answer to the 
relations of those who have lost their lives, and to those 
themselves who have lost their property or suffered severe 
injury as a result of violent activities on the part of Congress 
and its supporters And I cannot I fear accept as an answer 
your suggestion that" the whole blame Of has been laid by 
you yourself at the' door of the Government of India. We 
are dealing with facts in this matter, and they have to be 
faced. And while, as I made clear in my last letter, I am 
very anxious to have fr(lm you anything that you may have 
to say or any specific proposition that you may have to make. 
the position remains that it is not the Government of India, 
but Congress and yourself that are on their Justification in 
this matter. 

If therefore you are anxious to inform me that you 
repudiate or dissociate yourself from the resolution of the 
9th August and the policy which that resolution represents, 
and if you can giv~ me appr0priate assurances as regards 
the future, I shall, I need not say, be very ready to consi­
der the matter further. It is of course very necessary to be 
dear on that point, and you will not, I know, take it amiss 
that I should make that clear in the plainest possible words. 

I will ask the Governor of Bombay to arrange that any 
communication from you should be sent through him, which 
will I trust reduce delay in its transmission. 

Yours sincerely, 
M. K. GANDHI, Esq. LIN LITHGOW 
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DEAR LORD LINLITHGOW, 

Detention Camp, 
29th January, 1943 

1 must thank you warmly for your prompt reply to my 
letter of 19th instant. 

I wish I could agree with you that your letter is clear. 
I am sure you do not wish to imply by clearness simply 
that you hold a partlcular opinion strongly. I have pleaded 
and would continue to plead tIll the last breath that you 
should at least make an attempt to convince me of the 
validity of the opinion you hold. that the August resolution 
of the Congress is responsible for the popular violence that 
broke out on the 9th August last and after, even though 
it broke out after the wholesale arrests of principal Congress 
workers. Was not the drastic and unwarranted action of 
the Government responsible for the reported violence? You 
have not even ~aid what part of the August r~solution IS 

bad or offensive in your opmlon. That resolution is in no 
way a retraction by the Congress of its policy of non-violence. 
It is definitely against FaSCIsm in every shape or form. It 
tenders co-operation in war effort under circumstances which 
alone can make effective and nation-wide co-operation 
possible. 

Is all this open to reproach? 
Objection may be raised to that clause of the resolution 

which contemplated civil disobedience. But that by itself 
cannot constitute an objection since the principle of civil 
disobedience is impliedly conceded in what is known as the 
.. Gandhi-Irwin Pact ". Even that civil disobedience was 
not t'o be started-before knowing the resqlt of the meeting 
for which I was to seek from you an appointment. 
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Then. take the unproved and in my opinion unprovable 
charges hurled against the Congress and me by so responsible 
a Minister as the Secretary of State for India. 

Surely I can say with safety that It IS for the Govern­
ment to justify theIr action by solid evidence. not by mere 
ipse dtxtt. 

But you throw In my face the facts of murders by 
persons reputed to be Congressmen. I see the fact of the' 
murders as clearly, I hope, as you do. My answer IS 
that the Government goaded the people to the point of 
madness. Thev started leomne violence In the shape ot 
the arrests already t'eferred to. That violence is not any 
the less so, because It IS organized on a scale so gigantic. 
that it displaces the MosaIC law of tooth for tooth by that 
of ten thousand for one -- not to mention the corollary of 
the Mosaic law, I. e., of non-resIstance as enunciated by 
Jesus Christ. I cannot interpret in any other manner the 
repressive measures of the all-powerful Government of India .• 

Add to this tale of woe the prIvations of the poor! 
millions due to India-wide scarcity which J cannot help 
thinkIng might have been largely mitigated, if not altogether 
prevented, had there been a bona ftde natIOnal government 
responsible to a popularly elected assembly. 

If then I cannot get soothing balm for my pain, I must 
resort to the law prescribed f()r Satyagrahis, namely, a fast 
according to capacity. I must commence after the early 
morning breakfast of the 9th February, a fast for twentyone 
days ending on the mormng of the 2nd March. Usually, 
during my fasts, I take water WIth the addition of salts. 
But nowadays, my system refuses water, ThIS time therefore 
I propose to add juices of citrus fruits to make water drink­
able. For, my wish is not to fast unto death, but to survive 
the ordeal, if God so wills. The fast can' be ended sooner 
by the Government giving the needed relief. 
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I am not marking this letter personal. as I did the two 
preVIOUS ones. They were In no way confidential. 111ey 
were mere personal appeal. 

I am. 
Your SIncere friend. 

M. K. GANDHI 

P. S. 
The followmg was inadvertently omitted*:- The Govern­

ment have evidently ignored or overlooked the very material 
fact that the Congress. by its August resolution. asked nothing 
tor itself. All its demands were for the whole people. As 
you shouJd be aware, the Congress was wIlling and prepared 
for the Government inviting Qald-i-Azam Jinnah to form a 
national government subject to such agreed adjustments as 
may be necessary for the duration of the war, such Govern­
ment being responsible to a duly elected assembly. Being 
isolated from the Workmg Committee. except Shrimati 
Sarojini pevi. I do not know its present./rnind. But the 
Committee is not lIkely to have changed its mind. 

M. K. GANDHI 

27 
The Viceroy's House. 

New DelhI. 
5th February, 1943 

DEAR MR. GANDHI. 

Many thanks for your letter of 29th January which I 
[lave just received. I have read it, as always. with great care 
and with every anxiety to follow your mInd and to do full 
lustice to your argument. But I fear that my view of the 
responsIbility of Congress and of yourself personally for the 
lamentable disorders of last autumn remains unchanged. 

Restored to Its proper place In letter No 31 page 42 
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In my last letter I said that my knowledge of the facts 
left me no choice but to regard the Congress movement, and 
you as its authorized and fully empowered leader at the time 
of the decision of last August, as responsible for the campaign 
of violence and cnme that subsequently broke out. In reply 
you have reIterated your request that I should attempt to 
convince you that my opinion is correct. I would readily 
have responded earlier to that request were it not that your 
letters gave no indIcation, such as I should have been entitled 
to expect, that you sought the information with an open 
mind. In each of them you have expressed profound dIstrust 
of the published reports of the recent happenings, nlthough 
in your last letter, on the basis of the same information, you 
have not hesitated to lay the whole blame for them on the 
Government of India. In the ~ame letter you have stated 
that I cannot expect you to accept the accuracy of the 
official reports on whICh I rely. It is not therefore clear 
to me how you expect or even desire me to convince you of 
anythmg. But in fact, the Government of India have never 
made any secret of their reasons for holding the Congre~s 
and its leaders responsible for the deplorable acts of violence, 
sabotage and terrorism that have occurred since the Congress 
resolution of the 8th August declared a .. mass struggle" 
in support of its demands. appointed you as Its leader and 
authorized all Congressmen to act for themselves In the 
event of interference with thE.' leadershIp of the movement. 
A body which passes a resolution in such terms is hardly 
entitled to disclaim responSibility for any events that follow 
it. There is evidence that you and your fnends expected 
this policy to lead to violence; and that you were prepared 
to condone It; and that the violence that ensued forrMd 
part of a concerted plan. conceived long before the arresT' 
of Congress leaders. The general nature of the case againsl

t 
the Congress has been publicly stated by the Home Member 
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in his speech in the Central Legislative Assembly -on the 
15th September last, and if you need further information I 
would refer you to it. I enclose a complete copy in case 
the press versions that you must have seen were not 
sufficient. I need only add that all the mass of evidence that 
has come to light has confirmed the conclusions then reached. 
I have ample information that ~he campaign of sabotage 
has been conducted under secret instructions, circulated in 
the name of the A. 1. C. c.; that well-known congressmen 
have organized and freely taken part in acts of violence and 
murder; and that even now an underground Congrpss 
organization exists m whIch, among others, the wife of a 
member of the Congress Workmg Committee plays a pro­
mment part, and which is actively engaged m planning the 
bomb outrages and other acts of terrorism that have disgusted 
the whole country. If we do not act on all this information 
or make it publicly known it IS because the time is not yet 
ripe; but you may rest assured that the charges agamst the 
Congress will have to be met sooner or later and It will 
then be for you and your colleagues to clear yourselves 
before the world if you can. And If in the meanwhile you 
yourself, by any action such as you now appear to be coo­
templatmg, attempt to find an easy way out, the Judgement 
WIll go agamst you by default. 

I have read with surprise your statement that the 
prinCIple of ciVIl disobedience is implicitly conceded in the 
DelhI Settlement of the 5th March 1931 which you refer to 
as the "GandhI-Irwin Pact". I have again looked at the 
document. Its basis was that civil disobedience would be 
"effectively discontInued" and that certain "reciprocal action" 
would be taken by Government. It was inherent in such 

document that it should take notice of the existence of 
_ivil disobedience. But I can find nothing in it to suggest 
that ciVIl disobedience was recognized as being in any 
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circumstances legitimate. And I cannot make it too plain 
that it is not so regarded by my Government. 

To accept the point of view which you put forward 
would be to concede that the authorized government of 
the country, on which lies the responsibility for maintaining 
peace and good order, should allow subversive and revolu­
tionary movements described by you yourself as open 
rebellion, to take place unchallenged; that they should allow 
preparations for violence, for the interruptions of communica­
tions, for attacks on innocent persons, for the murdel: of 
police officers and others to proceed unchecked. My Govern­
meut and 1 are open indeed to the charge that we should 
have taken drastic action at an earlIer stage against you and 
against the Congress leaders. But my anxiety and that of 
my Government has throughout been to give you, and to 
give the Congress organization, every possible opportunity 
to withdraw from the positlOn which you have decided to 
take up. Your statements of last June and July, the original 
resolution of the Working Committee of the 14th July, and 
your declaration on the same day that there was no room 
left for negotiation, and that after all it was an open rebel­
lion are all of them grave and signiflcant, even without 
your final exhortation to "do or die". But with a patience 
that was perhaps misplaced, it was decided to wait until 
the resolution of the All India Congress Committee made 
it clear that there could be no further toleration of the 
Congress attitude if Government was to discharge its res­
ponsibility to the people of IndIa. 

Let me in conclusion say how greatly I regret, having 
regard to your health and age. the decision that you tell me 
that you now have in your mind to take. 1 hope and pray 
that wiser counsels may yet prevail with you. But the 
decision whether or not to undertake a fast with its attendent 
risks is dearly one that must be taken by you alone and 
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the responsibility for which and for its consequences must 
rest on you alone. I trust sincerely that in the light of what 
I have said you may think better of your resolution and I 
would welcome a decision on your part to think better of 
it. not only because of my own natural reluctance to see 
you wilfully risk your lite. but because I regard the use of 
a fast for political purposes as a form of political blackmail 
(himsa) for which there can b~ no moral justification. and 
understood from your own preVIOUS writings that thIS was 
also your view. 

M. K. GANDHI, Es~. 
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DEAR MR. GANDHI, 

Yours sincerely. 
LrNLITHGOW 

The Viceroy's House, 
New Delhi, 

5th February, 1943 

In your letter of 29th January to H. E. you mentioned 
that you were not marking that letter personal lIke your 
two earlier letters, but that those two earlier letters were 
in no way confidential, and were a mere personal appeal. As 
you would no doubt have expected H. E. had hitherto 
attached to the word . personal' its normal conventional 
meaning. and had accordingly given the same marking to his 
replies. He assumes in the light of what you say that you 
would have no objection to his publishing these letters wtth 
his replies to them despite the fact of their personal marking. 
Perhaps you would be so kind as to let me know. 

M. K. GANDHI, Esq. 
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Yours sincerely, 
G. LAITHW AITE 
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DEAR SIR GILBERT. 

Detention Camp, 
7th February. 1943 

I was delighted to see your signature after such a lapse 
of time. When I said that the two personal letters were not 
confidential I certainly meant what you say. But r meant also 
that though they were not confidential on my part, if His 
Excellency wanted to treat them as such. being personal, he 
was free to do so, and therefore equally free to regard his 
two replies also as such. In that case he could have the 
four letters withheld from publication. So far as I am con­
cerned my request of course is that the whole correspon­
dence beginning with my letter of 14th August last. and 
including my letter to the Secretary to the Government 
of India. Home Department. should he published. 

30 

DEAR LURD L1NLlTHGOW. 

Yours sincerely, 

M. K. GANDHI 

DetentIOn Camp, 
7-2- '43 

I have to thank you for your long reply dated 5th 
instant to my letter of 29th January last. 

I would take your last point first. namely, the contem­
plated fast which begins on 9th instant. Your letter, from 
a Satyagrahi's stand-point, is an invitatIOn to fast. No doubt 
the responsibility for the step and its consequences will be 
solely mine. You have allowed an expression to slip from 
your pen for which 1 was unprepared. In the concluding 
sente:1ce of the second paragraph you describe the step 
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as an attempt ., to find an easy way out". That you, as a 
friend, can impute such a base and cowardly motive to .me 
passes comprehension. You have also described it as .. a 
form of political blackmail". and you quote my previous 
writings on the subject against me. I abide by my writings. 
I hold that there is nothing inconsistent in them with the 
contemplated step. I wondH whether you have yourself 
read those writings. 

I do claim that I approached you with an open mind 
when I asked you to convince me of my error. A "profound 
distrust" of the published reports is in no way inconsistent 
with my having an open mind. 

You say that there is evidence that I (I leave my 
friends out for the moment) .. expected this policy to lead 
to violence", that I was .. prepared to condone it". and 
that .. the violence that ensUf:d formed part of a concerted 
plan conceived long before the atrest of Congress leaders". 
I have seen no evidence in support of such a serious charge. 
You admit that part of the eVIdence has yet to be 
published. The speech of the Home Member. of whIch you 
have favoured me with a copy. may he taken as the 
openmg speech of the prosecution counsel and nothing more. 
It contains unsupported imputations against Congressmen. 
Of course he has described the violent outburst in graphic 
language. But he has not said why it took place when it 
did. I have suggested why it did. You have condemned men 
and women before trying them and hearing their defence. 
Surely there was nothing wrong in my asking you to show 
me the evidence on which you hold them guilty. What 
you say in your letter carries no conviction. Proof should 
correspond to the canons of English jurisprudence. 

1£ the wife of a member of the Working Committee is 
actively engaged in "planning the bomb outrages and other 
acts of terrorism" she should be tried before a'court of law 
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and pUOIshed If found gUilty The lady you refer to could 
only have done the thmgs attnbuted to her after the wholesale 
arrests of 9th August last which I have dared to descnbe 
as leomne vlOlence. 

You say that the time IS not yet npe to publtsh the 
charges agamst the Congress Have :you ever thought ot the 
possIbIlIty of theIr bemg found baseless when they are put 
before an ImpartIal tnbunal. or that some of the condemned 
persons might have dIed 10 the meanwhile, or that some of 
the eVidence that the hvmg can produce might become 
unavaIlable ? 

I reiterate the stat?ment that the pnnclple of cIvil diS­
obedience IS ImphcItly conceded 10 the settlement of 5th 
March, 1931, arrIved at between the then Viceroy on behalf 
of the Government of India and myself on behalf of the 
Congress I hope you know that the pnncipal Congressmen 
were dIscharged before that settlement was even thought 
of Certam reparatIOns were made to Congressmen under 
that settlement CIvll dIsobedience was discontmued only 
on condItIons bcmg fulfIlled by the Government That by 
Itself was, In my oplOIon, an acknowledgement of ItS leg1tlmacy, 
of course under gIven circumstances. It therefore ~eems 
somewhat strange to fmd you mamtam that CivIl disobedi­
ence .. cannot be recogmzed as bemg m any clrcumstance~ 
leglt1mate by your Government " You Ignore the practIce 
of the British Government which has recogOlzed Its legItImacy 
under the name of" passive resIstance" 

Lastly you read Into my letters a meanIng whILh IS 
wholly Inconsistent WIth my declaratlOn. m one of them, of 
adherence to unadulterated non-vIOlence. For, you say 10 

your letter under reply. that .. acceptance of my pomt of 
view would be to concede that the authOrized Govern­
ment of the country on which hes the responSibilIty for 
mau.taIDlng peace and good order. should allow movements 
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to take place that would admit preparations for violence, 
interruptions of communications, for attacks on innocent 
persons, for murders of police officers and others, to procel?d 
unchecked ", I must be a strange friend ot yours whom you 
beheve to be capable of asking for recognttlon of such 
things as lawful. 

I have not attempted an exhaustive reply to the views 
and statements attributed to me. This is not the place nor 
the time for such reply. I have only picked out those things 
which in my opmlOn demanded an immediate answer. You 
have left me no loophole for escaping the ordeal I have set 
before for myself. I begm It on 9th instant With the cJeare~t 
possIble conscience. Despite your deSCription of it as " a form 
of polItical blackmaIl ", it is on my part meant to be an 
appeal to the Highest Tnbunal for JustIce whICh I have faIled 
to ~ecure from you. If I do not survive the ordeal I shall 11.0 
to the Judgment Seat WIth the fullest faith in my innocence . 

. Posterity will judge between you as representatIVe of an all­
powerful Government and me as a humble man who had 
tried to serve his country and humanity through It. 

My last letter was written against time and therefore a 
material paragraph went 10 as post-scnpt. I now send here­
with a fair copy typed by Pyarelal who has taken Mahadev 
Desai's place. You wtll find the post-SCrIpt paraj!.raph 
restored to the place where It should have heen. 

End : (1) 
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I am, 
Your SlOcen~ fnend, 

M. K. GANDHI 
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ENCLOSURE TO LETTER NO. 30 

DEAR LORD LINLITHGOW. 

Detention Camp 
29th January. 1943 

I must thank you warmly for your prompt reply to my letter of' 
19th instant. 

1 wish I could agree with you that your letter is clear. I am sure 
you do not wish to imply by clearness simply that you hold a particular 
opinion strongly. I have pleaded and would continue to plead till the 
llU!t breath that you should at least make an attempt to convince me of 
the validity of the opinion you hold. that the August resolution of the 
Congress is responsible for the popular violence that broke out on the 
9th August last and after. even though it broke out after the wholesale 
arrests of principal Congress workers. Was not the drastic and unwarranted 
action of the Government responsible for the reported violence? You 
have not even said what part of the August resolution is bad or 
offensive in your opinion. That resolution is in no way a retraction by 
the Congress of its policy of non-violence. It is definitely against Fascism 
in every shape or form. It tenders co-operation in war effort under 
circumstances which alone can make effective and nation-wide co-operation 
possible. 

The Government have eVldently ignored or overlooked the very 
material fact that the Congress. by its August resolution, asked nothing 
for itself. All its demands were for the whole people. As you should be 
aware, the Congress was willing and prepared for the Government inviting 
Qaid-i-Azam Jinnah to form a national government subject to such 
agreed adjustments as may be necessary for the duration of the war. 
such governmf'nt hf'ing responsible to a duly elected assembly. Being 
isolated from the Working Committee, except Shrimati Sarojini Devi. I 
do not know it& present mind. But the Committee is not likely to have 
changed its mind. 

1~ all this open to reproach 'f 
Objection may be raised to that clause of the resolution which 

contemplated civil disobedience. But that by itself cannot constiflUte an 
objection since the principle of civil disobedience is impliedly conceded 
in what is known as the 'Gandhi-Irwin Pact'. Even that civil disobedience 
was not to be started before knowing the result of the meeting for. 
which I was to seek from you an 'appointment. 
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Then, take the unproved and in my opUllon unprovable charges 
hurled against the Congress and me by so responsible a Minister P.S the 
Secretary of State for India. 

Surely I can say with safety that it is for the Government to 
justify their action by solid evidence, not by mere ipse dixit. 

But you throw in my face the facts of murders by perbons reputed 
to be Congressmen. I see the fact of the murders as clearly, I hope, as 
you do. My answer is that the Government goaded the people to the 
point of madness. They started leonine violence in the shape of the 
arrests already referred to. That violence is not any the less so, because 
it is organized on a scale 80 gigantic that it displac~s the Mosaic law of 
tooth for tooth by that of ten thousand for o.ne - not to mention the 
corollary of the Mosaic law, i. e., of non-resistance as enunciated by 
Jesus . Christ. I cannot interpret in any other manncr the repressiVe 
measures of the all-powerful Government of India. 

Add to this tale of woe the privations of the poor millions due to 
India-wide scarcity which 1 cannot help thinking might have been largely 
mitigated. if not altogether prevented, had there been a bona fide 
national government responsible to a popularly elected assembly. 

If then 1 cannot get soothing balm for my pam. 1 must resort to 
the law prescribed for Satyagrahis. namely. a fast according to capacity. 
I must commence after the early morning breakfast of the 9th February, 
a fast for twentyone 'days ending on the morning of the 2nd March. 
U suully. during my fasts. 1 take water with the addition of salt •. 
But nowadays. my system refuses water. This time therefore 1 propose 
to add juices o'f citrus fruits to make water drinkable. For. my wish is 
not to fa8t unto death, but to survive the ordeal, if God so wills. The 
fast can be ended sooner by the Government !living the needed 
relief. 

1 am not marking this letter personal. as I did the two 
previous ones. They were in no way confidential. They w~re mere personal 
appeal. 

am. 
Your sincere friend. 

M. K. GANDHI 
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CONFIDENTIAL 

Dear Mr. Gandhi. 

32 

[Received by Post] 

Home Department, 
New Delhi, 

7th February, 1943 

The Government of India have been informed by His 
Excellency the Viceroy of your intention as communicated 
to him of undertaking a fast for 21 days in certain circum­
stances. They have carefully considered the position, and the 
conclusions they have reached in the light of such consIde­
ration are set out in the statement of which a copy is enclosed. 
which they propose. in the' event of your maintaining your 
present intention, to release in due course to the press. 

2. The Government of India, as you will see from their 
statement. would be very reluctant to see you fast. and I 
am instructed to inform you that, as the statement makes 
clear, they would propose that. should you persist in your 
intention, you will be set at liberty for the purpose, and for 
the duration. of your fast as from the time of its commence­
ment. During the period of your fast there will be no objection 
to your proceeding where you wish. though the Government 
of India trust that you will be able to arrange for your 
accommodatlOn away from the Aga Khan's Palace. 

3. Should you for any reason find yourself unable to 
take advantage of these arrangements. a decision which the 
Government of India would greatly regret. they will of 
course suitably amend the statement of which a copy is 
now enclosed before it issues. But they wish to repeat, with 
aU earnestness. their anxiety and their hope that the considera­
tions which have carried so much weight with them wi1( 
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equally carry weight with you, and that you will not pursue 
your present tentative proposal. In that event, no occasion 
will of course arise for the issue of any statement of 
any kind. 

P. S. February 8th 

Yours sincerely. 
R. TOlTENHAM 

In view of the urgency of the matter the text of this 
letter was telegraphed to the Governor's Secretary yesterday 
for communication to you to-day. 

33 
Advance copy of the ploposed Government communique 

STATEMENT 

Mr. Gandhi has informed His Excellency the Viceroy 
that he proposes to undertake a fast of three weeks' dura­
tron from the 9th February. It IS to be a fast according to 
capacity, and during it Mr. Gandhi proposes to add juices 
of citrus fruits to water to make water drinkable. as his 
wish is not to fast to death, but to survive the ordeal. The 
Government of India deplore the use of the weapon of fast 
to achieve political ends. There can, in their judgment. be 
no justification for it. and Mr. Gandhi has himself admitted 
in the past that it contains an element of coercion. The 
Government of India can only express their regret that 
Mr. Gandhi should think it necessary to employ such a 
weapon on this occasion. and should seek justification for it 
in anything which the Government may have said or done 
in connection with a movement initiated by him and his 
co-workers in the 'Congress Party. The Government of India 
have no intention on their part of allowing the fast to 
deflect them from their policy. nor will they he responsible 
~or its consequences on Mr. Gandhi's health. They cannot 
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prevent Mr. Gandhi from fasting. If he decides to do so, he 
must do so at his own risk and under his own arrangements. 
They have accordingly decided to release him for the purpose 
and duration of the fast. and any members of his party 
living with him who may wish to accompany him. 

The Government of India propose to issue in due course 
a full statement on the origin and development of the 
movement whlch was initiated in August last and the 
measures which Government have been compelled to adopt 
to deal with it. But they think this is a suitable occasion 
for a brief review of the events of the last few months. 

Mr. Gandhi. in his correspondence with the Viceroy. 
has repudiated all responsibihty for the consequences whIch 
have flowed from the "Quit India" demand. which he and 
the Congress party have put forward. This contention will 
not bear examination. 

Mr. Gandhi's own statement. before the movement was 
launched. envisaged anarchy as an alternative to the existing 
order and referred to the struggle as .. fight to the finish 
in the course of which he would not hesitate to run any 
risk. however great". 

As much has been made of his offer to meet the Viceroy, 
it is necessary to point out that at a press interview on the 
14th July after the Working Committee resolution was passed. 
Mr. Gandhi stated that there was no room left in the 
proposal for withdrawal or negotiation; there was no question 
of one more chance; after all it was an open rebellion which 
was to be as short and swift as possible. His last message 
was" do or die." The speeches of those most closely associated 
with Mr. Gandhi have been even more explicit and have 
given a clear indication of what the Congress High Command 
had in mind in launching their attack against Government 
as by law established and against the agencies and services 
by which the life of the country was being conducted. in a 
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period. be it noted. of exceptional stress and strain atld of 
grave danger to India from Japanese aggression. 

The instructions issued by the various organizations 
contamed in leaflets which were found to be freely circulating 
in almost every part of India -- and which. on the evidence. 
cannot all be disowned as unauthorized - gave specific 
instructions as to the methods which were to be employed 
for bringing the administration to a standstill. The circular 
of the 29th July emanating from the Andhra Provincial 
Congress Committee is an instance in point. It is noteworthy 
in this connection that in widely separated areas all over the 
country identical methods of attack on railways and other 
communications were employed. requiring the use of special 
implements and highly technical knowledge. Control rooms 
and block instruments in railway stations came in for special 
attention. and destruction of telegraph and telephone lines 
and eqUipment was carried out In a manner which denoted 
careful planning and close knowledge of their working. If 
these manifestauons of rebellious activities are to be regarded 
as the result not of Congress teachings. but as a manifestation 
of the popular resentment against the arrest of Mr. Gandhi 
and the Congress leaders. the question may well be asked 
to which section of the public the tens of thousands of men 
engaged in these violent and subversive activities belonged. 
If it is claimed that it is not Congressmen who have been 
responsible it would be extraordinary. to say the least. if 
the blame were to be laid on non-Congress elements. 

The country is, in effect. asked to believe that those 
who own allegiance to the Congress party have behaved 
in an exemplary non-violent manner. and it is persons who 
are outside the Congress fold who have registered their 
resentment at the arrest of the leaders of the movement 
which they do not profess to follow. A more direct answer 

"to the argument is to be had in the fact that Congressmen 
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have been repeatedly found engaged in incitement to violence 
or in prosecuting Congress activities which have led to 
grave disorders. 

That political parties and groups outside the Congress 
party have no delusions on the subject may be judged from 
the categorical way in which they have dissociated themselves 
from the movement, and condemned the VIOlence to which 
it has given rise. In particular the Muslim League has on 
more than one occasion emphasized the character and in­
tentions of the policy pursued by those of the Congress party. 
As early as the 20th August last. the Working Committee 
of the League expressed the view. reiterated many times 
since, that by the slogan" Quit India .. what is really meant 
was supreme control of the government of the country by 
the Congress, and that the mass civil disobedience movement 
had resulted in lawlessness and considerable destruction of 
life and property. Other elements in the political hfe of the 
country have expressed themselves in a similar vein, and 
if the followers of the Congress Party contend that the 
resultant violence was no part of their policy or programme, 
they are domg so against the weight of overwhelming 
evidence. 

Mr. Gandhi in his letter to the Viceroy has sought to 
fasten responsibility on the Government of India. The 
Government of IndIa emphatically repudiate the suggestion. 
It is clearly preposterous to contend that it is they who are 
responsible for the violence of the past few months which 
so gravely disorganized the normal life of the country - and, 
incidentally, aggravated the difficulties of the food situation, 
at a time when the united energies of the people might 
have been devoted to the vital part of repelling the enemy 
and striking a blow for the freedom of India, the Common­
wealth and the world. 
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DEAR SIR RICHARD. 

Detention ,camp, 
8th February. 1943 

I have very carefully studied your letter. I am sorry to 
say that there is nothing in the correspondence which has 
taken place between His Excellency and myself or your 
letter. to warrant a recalling of my intention to fast. 1 have 
mentioned in my letters to His Excellency the conditions 
which c:an induce prevention or suspension of the step. 

If the temporary release is offered for my convenience. 
I do not need it. I should be quite content to take my fast 
as a detenue or prisoner. 1£ it is for the convenience of the 
Government I am sorry I am unable to suit them much u 
I should like to do so. I can say this much that I. as a 
prisoner. shall avoid. as far as is humanly possible. every 
cause of inconvenience to the Government'. save what is 
inherent in the fast itself. The impending fast has not been 

. conceived to be taken as a free man. Circumstances may 
arise. as they have done before now, when 1 may have to 
fast as a free man. If therefore I am released. there will be 
no fast in terms of my correspondence above mentioned. I 
shall have to survey the situation de novo and decide what 
I should do. I have no desire to be released under false 
pretences. In spite of all that has been said against me, I 
have not to belie the vow of Truth and Non-violence which 
alone makes life liveable for me. I say this, if it is only for 
my own satisfaction. It does' me good to reiterate o~y 
my faith when outer darkness surrounds me. ; as it does 
just now. 

t must not hustle the Government into a decision on 
this letter. I understand that your letter has been dictated 
through' the telephone. In order to give the Govenu:p.ent 
enough time, I shall suspend the fast. jf necessary, to 
Wednesday next. lOth instant. 
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